
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Monday, 8 June 2020 at 7.30 pm when the 
business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members 
can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes from Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

None. 

5. Coronavirus - Cabinet Portfolio Impact (Pages 9 - 22)

6. Bin contamination Policy (Pages 23 - 34)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


7. Annual Review of the Licensing Shared Service (Pages 35 - 46)

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part a of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None. 

Members

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Steve Thompson
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

Tuesday, 11 February 2020                                7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)    

Cllrs: Ejaz Aslam 
John Caller 
Gary Harding  
Les Hoskins 
Leslie Pearton 
Peter Scollard  
Frank Wardle

Stuart Alford
Elizabeth Thornton 

Assistant Director (Operations) 
Service Manager (Property & Regulatory Services) 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant 

21. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Conrad Broadley, Cllr Emma Elliott and Cllr 
Steve Thompson. Cllr Ejaz Aslam and Cllr Les Hoskins substituted. 

22. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2019 were signed by the Chair. 

23. Declaration of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.    

24. Abandoned Vehicles Process 

The Committee was provided with the process officers followed when dealing with vehicles 
which might be classified as abandoned. Attached at appendix two was a flowchart that 
would help Members to understand the stages the abandoned vehicle process had to work 
through before a car could be removed.  

The Assistant Director (Operations) guided Members through the report outlining the key 
points of the process at Section Two: 

 For a car to be classified as abandoned, a vehicle must meet three of the Council’s 
abandonment criteria which is taken from government guidance on abandoned 
vehicles; the criteria is listed at 2.4 of the report 

 The car has to meet three of the criteria to ensure the Council’s confidence that the 
car has been abandoned and hasn’t just been parked while the owner is away on 
holiday or part of a neighbourly dispute etc 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 11.02.2020

2

 If it meets the criteria, then an abandonment notice will be affixed to the vehicle and 
the keeper details requested from the DVLA; the three types of notices are listed at 
2.6 of the report 

 Once the notice has expired, if the vehicle has not been removed and/or the owner 
has not claimed the vehicle, then removal of the vehicle will be arranged. The 
removal of abandoned vehicles is arranged under a contract procured by Kent 
County Council as it is their legal duty to dispose of abandoned vehicles 

 If the vehicle did not have a valid road tax or was SORN and was parked on the 
public highway then it would be reported to the DVLA who have the responsibility to 
remove untaxed vehicles 

 If the vehicle in question was parked dangerously then it would be reported to Police 
as they have the powers for immediate removal 

The Assistant Director (Operations) fielded questions from the Committee: 

 No complaints had been received recently about the car business in Higham parking 
their vehicles on the grass verges however it was hard to deal with the problem as 
the owner usually removed the cars before the notice had expired. Unless a witness 
can link the parked cars to the business then there isn’t much that can be done as 
bollards could be installed but that would be detriment to the residents who also park 
their cars there 

 The Council manage the day to day administration of creating and distributing the 
notices; once the notice has expired and a further visit conducted then  the removal 
contractor have five working days to remove the vehicle 

 Within Kent, there are only two contractors that are used to remove abandoned 
vehicles but GBC have built a strong relationship with the contractors that KCC 
utilises 

 A vehicle not having a valid MOT certificate was not one of the classifications of the 
abandonment criteria 

 Typically the longstanding 21 days’ criteria  will only be used if the vehicle doesn’t 
tick three boxes of the abandonment criteria however if someone can prove that the 
vehicle has been there for at least 21 days via dated photos or CCTV etc then it can 
be removed. Otherwise , the 21 day notice period starts from when the first report 
was received 

 KCCs abandoned vehicle contract with GBC came with the condition that GBC would 
remove all rubbish from within the abandoned vehicle before it was removed; usually 
the team will remove the rubbish the same day it is collected 

 95% of suspected abandoned vehicles are reported through the website by the public 
or Councillors however if Council staff see any while they are on the streets then they 
will report  with them directly 

 Some referrals are received from the Police; the PCSOs  are active in patrolling the 
Borough and will contact the team if they see any suspected abandoned vehicles 

 Of the 399 vehicles reported to the Council as potentially abandoned during 2019, 
only 88 were actually classified as abandoned under the established criteria 

A Councillor reported a suspected abandoned vehicle parked outside the British Heart 
Foundation as it had been there for a couple of weeks and had been issued several FPN’s. 
The Assistant Director (Operations) agreed to investigate the vehicle to see if a notice had 
been issued.  (Upon checking the vehicle had gone away)

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 11.02.2020

3

The Chair thanked the Assistant Director (Operations) for an informative update and praised 
the clarity of the flowchart attached at appendix two. 

25. Street Cleansing Update 

The Assistant Director (Operations) ran through the report giving Members an update on the 
following successful initiatives, listed in detail on pages 14-17, carried out by the Waste 
Management Team to improve the cleanliness of the Borough: 

 Reducing fly-tipping in St Marks Avenue
 Deep clean of Pier Road river viewing platform
 Removal of tree guards in Wellington Street area
 Reduction in fly-tipping at Cascades and Morrison’s recycling sites
 Issuing of fixed penalty notices in Snelling Avenue and Gwynn Road 

The Assistant Director (Operations) fielded questions from the Committee: 

 The probation service has been used several times before for clearance jobs that the 
Council wouldn’t usually carry out themselves such as clearing rubbish from private 
access ways. The probation team have also been utilised by the Housing Service 
carrying out a variety of different work projects; working with the probation service 
allows their workforce to be upskilled and provided opportunities for development 

 Fly-tipping on private land was a problem and a difficult situation for the Council as 
the responsibility for clearing the rubbish lies with the owner of the land. However, 
the Council will always attempt to work with land owners to remove small amounts of 
rubbish such as a fridge or a few bin bags. But if the amount of rubbish dumped was  
too large then the Council couldn’t justify spending a significant amount of money to 
clear waste from private land 

 Mobile CCTV cameras were not used much in Gravesham as to deploy covert CCTV 
a RIPA has to be issued by a judge.. However, if signage was erected in hotspots 
then cameras could easily be set up as  people had been informed of their presence 

 Certainly in some cases with the biggest amounts of fly-tipping the cameras had 
caught licence plates of the offending vehicles and following a number plate check it 
had been revealed that the plate had been cloned and no action could be taken 

 As part of a County Project, GBC identified hotspots around the Borough from 
reports, information from Parish Councils and patrol data from PCSOs. Later this 
month warning signage, stating ‘CCTV in Operation’, will be erected in those 
hotspots to see if it makes any difference to the high levels of fly-tipping 

The Chair stated that he had seen the probation team in action at St Andrews Gardens and 
was very impressed with the work they had done and hoped that their services would 
continue to be enlisted in the future in both the Housing and Operations teams. 

The Committee were advised by a Member that if they wanted to increase their community 
litter picks then they should talk to Tracey Marshall in Housing who could request assistance 
from the probation service. 

The Vice-Chair formally commended the work of the Operations Team and thanked them for 
taking a different approach to the problems in his ward which ultimately lead to a very 
successful resolution. 

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 11.02.2020

4

In conclusion, the Chair explained that report was very important and would be a regular 
report to the Committee that showcased before and after case studies of areas in the 
Borough that had been improved by the Councils Operational Teams. Additionally, 
discussions had been held with Communications and senior officers to broadcast the case 
study work through social platforms demonstrating to the public that the Council were taking 
a proactive approach to cleaning up the Borough.  

26. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2019-20 (October - 
December) 

Members were presented with an update against the Performance Management Framework, 
as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Three 2019-20 (October to 
December 2019). 

The Assistant Director (Operations) ran through the report page by page so that Members 
had a chance to comment on the performance of each policy commitment. 

Policy Commitment 1 – People 

1. Enforce high regulatory standards:
 
Members requested clarification on what the lines on the charts within the report 
represented; the Assistant Director (Operations) agreed to confer with the Corporate 
Performance Manager and circulate the answer after the meeting. 

3. Improve the local environment:

With regards to PI9 the ‘total volume of residual waste per household’ the Assistant Director 
(Operations) advised that the cumulative figures for each quarter were added together to 
achieve the outturn figure for the following quarter. 

The recycling process for the Borough Market was queried by a Member. 

The Assistant Director (Operations) advised that the recycling processes were being 
reviewed for all Council owned buildings due to the Councils recent commitment to climate 
change and become carbon neutral by 2030. In order to educate about climate change and 
encourage other organisations to take up similar pledges, the Council had to fully lead on all 
climate change actions. 

The Assistant Director (Operations) explained that PI10 the ‘% of household waste sent to 
landfill’ was an annual indicator which will have full figures reported at the end of quarter four 
for 2019/20. Gravesham’s total percentage of waste sent to landfill at the end of 2018/19 
was 0.9%.  

3. Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town 
centre:

The Assistant Director (Operations) advised that PI11 ‘Average time taken to remove graffiti 
identified as GBC responsibility (days)’ was a new indicator; it was only confirmed during 
Quarter Three that the data would be collected which was why there was no data for 
Quarters One and Two within the report. Originally, the Council would only report on the 
removal of offensive graffiti. 

Page 6



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 11.02.2020

5

Following a question regarding private buildings such as homes, the Assistant Director 
(Operations) responded that the Council will remove graffiti from private buildings if the 
Council received indemnity. 

P1 12 ‘% of areas with unacceptable levels of littering’ represented a snapshot of every 
demographic in the Borough from streets in the Town Centre to country lanes  The PI 
allowed the Council to see how they had performed in maintaining the cleanliness of the 
Borough however it was recognised that it was only a snapshot.   

Policy Commitment 2 – Place  

1. Improve resident well-being: 
  
The Committee informed that PI 39 ‘% of Council play sites annually inspected’ was an 
annual indicator which would have full figures reported at the end of quarter four for 2019/20. 

The Chair thanked the Assistant Director (Operations) for an informative performance 
update. 

27. Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 

Members were informed of the Council’s involvement in partnerships that were within the 
remit of the committee.
 
The Assistant Director (Operations) advised that the current partnerships that most directly 
related to the work of the Operational Services Committee were as follows:

 Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership
 Kent Resource Partnership

The Service Manager (Property & Regulatory Services) advised that the Kent and Medway 
Air Quality Partnership had a contract in place, which effectively covered all Kent Districts, to 
monitor air quality arrangements and ensure that data collection was kept consistent across 
the County. 

The Assistant Director (Operations) informed Members that the Kent Resource Partnership 
was a county wide partnership that aimed to deliver the objectives of the Kent Waste 
Strategy listed on page 39 of the report. 

The partnership is made of all the district councils and Kent County Council to make 
improvement in waste, recycling and cleanliness across Kent through joint working. The 
partnership has agreed to look at how its services affect climate change especially the 
transportation of waste and recycling after it has been collected.

The Assistant Director (Operations) stated that 68% of Gravesham’s waste was dealt with 
within Kent as opposed to driving it elsewhere in the Country.  

Page 7



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 11.02.2020

6

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:23pm. 

Page 8



1

Classification: Part 1 – Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 8 June 2020 

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Operations)
Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager

Subject: Coronavirus: Cabinet Portfolio Impact on Operational 
Services and Regulatory Services (Environmental Health and 
Licensing)

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an overview of the impact of the Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic upon the 
practical delivery of the services within the Operational Services Cabinet portfolio.

Recommendations:
This report is for information purposes only.

1. Background

1.1 The Covid-19 pandemic has had the most profound impact on the daily lives of 
UK residents of any event this century; significant societal restrictions on 
movement and association, coupled with intense harm to the national economy 
through the enforced closure of businesses and an inevitable loss of jobs.

1.2 Collectively, the impact of Covid-19 is one of significant damage to the health and 
well being of the Gravesham community and, equally, presents a substantial 
challenge to the future sustainability of the council and its essential frontline 
community services. 

1.3 On 12 May 2020, a report was considered by Council outlining the social and 
economic impact the pandemic has had upon the Gravesham community and 
providing details of the council’s comprehensive community support offer during 
the period. At that meeting, Council unanimously put on record its gratitude to all 
those involved across all sectors in the outstanding response to the global Covid-
19 pandemic and, equally, expressed condolences to those who have lost loved 
ones in this tragic event. 

1.4 This report aims to provide a focus on the Operational Services portfolio in 
regards to the practical impact of the pandemic and, specifically, to provide clarity 
on what new policies or amended working practices were established in order to 
adapt to what was, and continues to be, a rapidly evolving challenge.

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Legislation

2.1 In order to provide the powers needed to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic, and 
to properly enable delivery against its already announced guidance at that point, 
the Coronavirus Act 2020 was enacted on 25 March 2020 as the Government’s 
main legislative vehicle. 

2.2 For district councils, a total of 39 new or amended powers and duties were 
created through the Act, providing a framework within which to operate and shape 
a local response. 

2.3 The majority of provisions came into effect on the date of enactment, but detailed 
further legislation in the form of statutory instruments and subsequent government 
guidance has been issued since that date and continues to be published. In 
support of this primary legislation, there has been a wide range of secondary 
legislation passed to adjust, often temporarily, existing parliamentary Acts, all of 
which has had to be accounted for in the council’s formal programme of activity.

2.4 In regards to the Operational Services portfolio specifically, the following 
provisions/Regulations were introduced that directly impact upon the following 
services:

Page 10



3

 

Service Provision Impact

Waste Management HWRC Functions

Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (England) 
Regulations 2020 - as 
amended)

Closure of HWRC sites 
has seen an increase in 
waste being collected 
from kerbside together 
with a slight increase in 
fly-tipping.  The HWRCs 
reopened on Friday 15 
May 2020

Cemetery Service Registration of deaths

Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (England) 
Regulations 2020 - as 
amended)

No impact so far

Horticultural Services Play-grounds Closure

Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (England) 
Regulations 2020 - as 
amended)

Closure of all Council 
owned play grounds and 
outside gym equipment.  
These remain closed 
pending updated 
guidance.

Environmental Health Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (England) 
Regulations 2020 - as 
amended)

These Regulations set 
out the business closure 
requirements, which 
Environmental Health 
depts. were tasked with 
leading on.  The council’s 
Commercial Team were 
tasked with this as their 
routine food hygiene 
inspections were stopped 
by the Food Standards 
Agency, freeing up the 
necessary officer 
resources.

3. Practical impact

3.1 In response to the pandemic, the following operational steps were introduced in 
order to maintain the Services within the Operational Service Portfolio whilst 
adhering to Government advice, protecting staff and public health, and supporting 
customers:

Page 11



4

3.2 At an early stage during March 2020 action was taken to limit any potential spread 
of the coronavirus at Brookvale depot.  Actions included

3.2.1.1 Closing the staff mess room to large groups.

3.2.1.2 Briefing staff on the health risks and passing on the hand washing 
and social distancing message.

3.2.1.3 Implementing social distancing by limiting interaction between the 
different departments.

3.2.1.4 Supply of PPE such as hand sanitiser & wipes, cleaning 
equipment to clean cabs of vehicles on a daily basis, additional 
supply of gloves and provision of an area to wash gloves issued 
to staff

3.3 Waste Collection and Recycling Service

3.3.1 As an essential service, it was important to keep the refuse and recycling 
service running as close to a normal service as possible.

3.3.2 To enable the service to continue to function effectively and safely strict 
measures were instilled within the department including keeping collection 
crews in their own ‘household’ to assist in maintaining social distancing  
and strict adherence to the isolation rules for anyone showing any Covid 
symptoms.

3.3.3 Throughout the current emergency, we have followed the Health & Safety 
guidance provided by WISH (Waste Industry Safety and Health Forum) 
and worked closely with colleagues across Kent sharing best practice 
through weekly meetings.  The level of sickness within the Waste 
Collection Team has been very low and staff morale has been high with 
the team taking great pride in continuing to deliver this vital service to the 
community in the current difficult circumstances.

3.3.4 These early actions and continuous consultation with all waste collection 
staff has meant the Council has managed to keep all its refuse/recycling 
services running unlike many other Council’s across Kent and the Country 
as a whole.

3.3.5 During the height of the lockdown only 48% of Councils were fully 
operating a garden waste service and 18% a bulky waste service

3.3.6 There have been extra demands on the service with more people being at 
home which has led to a substantial increase in the amount of refuse, 
recycling and garden waste collected by the teams as shown in appendix 
2.

3.3.7 Due to the uncertainty provided by the Covid emergency, the garden 
waste service ceased taking on new customers for a number of weeks.  
The garden waste service is now available to new customers with demand 
for new subscriptions being very high.

Page 12



5

3.3.8 The trade waste collection service has continued to run although as 
expected the demand for the service has been lower than normal due to 
some businesses being closed.  The waste management team have been 
and will continue to work closely with local businesses to ensure the 
required service is provided.

3.3.9 The continued and undisrupted provision of the waste and recycling 
service has been welcomed by most residents within the borough with the 
collection crews receiving numerous compliments especially through social 
media and thank you notes and drawings on bins. There have been 
incidents where residents have clapped the crews as they have been 
carrying out their duties.  The increased support from members and 
residents has helped to keep the morale of collection staff high during this 
extremely testing period.

3.4 Street Cleansing Service

3.4.1 When the lockdown measures were put in place by Government, the level 
of the street cleansing provided was reduced to include essential cleaning 
only which saw bin emptying and fly-tipping clearances take priority.

3.4.2 Over the lockdown period, the street cleansing service provision has been 
gradually increased taking account of staff safety and social distancing.  A 
full service has been provided since 13 April 2020.

3.4.3 With less people out in the streets and parks and food takeaways being 
closed, the level of littering has dropped substantially.  There has also not 
been the huge increase in fly-tipping that people expected with the 
HWRCs being closed.  This has allowed the team to concentrate on other 
jobs such as the quick delivery of new garden waste bins with the demand 
for new subscriptions being very high and additional cleansing work in the 
car parks and other areas around the town centre.

3.5 Cemetery Service

3.5.1 As an essential service, the Cemetery Service has continued to operate 
throughout the lockdown with many of the Health & Safety measures 
highlighted in paragraph 3.1 in place.  

3.5.2 Throughout the current emergency, we have closely followed guidance 
issued by government and have worked closely with colleagues across 
Kent and the Police, sharing best practice.

3.5.3 To ensure the safety of staff, visitors and mourners the following 
procedures were been brought into place for each burial that has taken 
place.

3.5.3.1 Funerals are now at arranged at set times - 10am, 12pm and 
2pm.  This allows us to maximise the number of burial slots per 
day.

3.5.3.2 No more than 6 immediate family members may be in attendance 
at the burial. Immediate family is defined as Spouse/Partner, 
Parents/Carers, Brothers/Sisters and Children. 

Page 13



6

3.5.3.3 All attendees must remain within their household groups and 
refrain from touching, hugging, kissing and shaking hands and 
under no circumstances are family members allowed to carry or 
lower the coffin into the grave. 

3.5.3.4 Family members are to observe the social distancing guidelines 
and must remain 2 metres away from the graveside until the coffin 
has been lowered and the bearers and staff have stepped away.

3.5.3.5 A distance of two metres is to be maintained between every 
household group, as per Public Health England guidelines.

3.5.3.6 No access to any of the cemetery buildings including toilet 
facilities for members of the public, funeral directors or persons 
officiating a funeral 

3.5.3.7 Cemetery rules around the playing of music and live streaming in 
the cemetery have been relaxed, meaning that those not able to 
attend the service are still able to feel included.

3.5.4 Due to increased casual usage both Cemeteries were closed to the public 
on 2 April 2020, however following the government announcement on 
Saturday 18 April, both Cemeteries were re-opened the following day.

3.5.5 For the safety of the staff additional measures were implemented including 
reduced opening times to allow the staff to empty bins and prepare the 
Cemetery. When the Cemetery is open the team work in cordoned off work 
areas so they can maintain their two metres distance from visitors.

3.5.6 Demand for burials was expected to be high however in practice it has 
remained at average levels for the time of the year.  Due to the expected 
increase in demand and to reduce use of the Cemeteries, the burials of 
ashes has been suspended in line with other Cemeteries.

3.6 Horticultural Services

3.6.1 At the start of the lockdown all grass cutting operations except for open 
spaces were suspended and all the Council’s playgrounds were closed to 
the public as per government guidance.

3.6.2 Gradually over recent weeks the grass cutting service has increased week 
on week.  We are now in a position where a full service is being provided.

3.6.3 Although the playgrounds remain closed in line with government guidance, 
all the Council’s parks and open spaces have remained open except for 
Fort Gardens and Camer Park Car Park.  Following the announcement to 
reduce some of the lockdown measures, the car park at Camer Park has 
been re-opened whilst Fort Gardens remains closed to the public at the 
request of the Police.

3.7 Environmental Health and Licensing services 

3.7.1 Staff have predominantly worked from home on work-issued laptops with 
full access to all relevant systems.

Page 14



7

3.7.2 Incoming calls have been taken and managed by Customer Services, with 
messages being taken and emailed to officers to respond to accordingly 
where necessary.

3.7.3 Post has been periodically collected, scanned, and distributed via email to 
relevant staff for processing.

3.7.4 Taxi and private hire vehicle licence plates and driver badges stopped 
being printed.  Temporary exemptions from displaying currently 
plates/badges have instead been emailed alongside the paper part of the 
licences.  Licence holders have been asked to continue to display their old 
plates/badges and to keep the exemption letter(s) with them at all times.  
Replacement plates/badges will be issued in due course.

3.7.5 Where taxi and private hire applicants have been unable to satisfy all 
renewal requirements due to COVID-19 measures outside of their control, 
temporary licences have been issued to enable them to keep working. Full 
licences will follow once all requirements are satisfied.  

3.7.6 More online application forms with online payment facilities have continued 
to be developed and published on the council’s website to progress our 
overall digital offering and facilitate more streamlined processes that can 
be progressed efficiently, and remotely.

3.7.7 Following consultation with the Leader, existing taxi and private hire 
licence holders have been given option to defer payment of renewal fees 
for 3 months (initially) and given temporary licences where this option has 
been chosen.  No impact in annual income is envisaged as a result of this.

3.7.8 All other applications have continued to be processed as normal, but with 
all licence parts and documentation sent via email.

3.7.9 Routine food hygiene inspections were halted by the Food Standards 
Agency (FSA).  The Commercial Team, who deal with this area of work, 
have therefore led on the council’s compliance efforts relating to new 
business closure requirements and assisted in the vulnerable resident 
support work.

3.7.10 The Environmental Protection Team have continued to progress nuisance 
complaints which, as can be seen from the data in section 4, significantly 
increased following lockdown (primarily in relation to noise and bonfire 
complaints), but are now showing signs of easing off.  Staff nevertheless 
remain very busy dealing with their usual remit and with a reduced 
workforce.

4. Performance

4.1 In its response to Covid-19, the corporate Management Team moved quickly to 
introduce a dedicated suite of performance indicators. The aim was to enable 
early and targeted intervention and redirection of resources where it was needed 
to those critical services deemed underperforming. 

4.2 In consideration of the practical challenges outlined at paragraph 3 to this report, 
within the Operational Services portfolio relevant performance monitoring as part 
of this suite involved.  These are shown in appendix 2.

Page 15



8

4.3 Outside of this operational suite, in order to maintain delivery against the council’s 
Corporate Plan, monitoring against the adopted Performance Management 
Framework was maintained throughout. Members will subsequently be presented 
with the latest quarterly report for consideration. 

5. Next steps 

Operational Services

5.1 The majority of services provided by the Operational Services Team are already 
back to full operational status working to a “new norm” with measures in place to 
allow for social distancing where possible and reduce contact with the public.  
These measures will stay in place until the government announces that it is safe 
to review them and management will continue to liaise with operational staff 
whenever changes are proposed as has been the case throughout this crisis.

5.2 Due to the operational nature of the services provided, the majority of the staff 
have been attending the depot on a daily basis, however some of the 
administrative staff have successfully been working remotely.  The staff working 
remotely are gradually being re-introduced back into the office environment on a 
rota basis.

Regulatory Services:

5.3 As and when we enter the recovery period and come out of lockdown::

5.3.1 The Licensing Team will be faced with a sizable task of issuing new 
vehicle plates, driver badges, and full licences to those currently issued 
with a temporary licence; managing the collection of any deferred fees; 
satisfying any outstanding renewal requirements, and; undertaking any 
associated compliance and enforcement interventions – whilst still 
endeavouring to maintain all day to day requirements.  

5.3.2 Food Hygiene inspections will likely gradually resume, as determined by 
the FSA.  This burden – and statutory requirement - will need to be 
balanced against the teams’ current responsibilities in relation to COVID-
19 business closure requirements.

5.3.3 The, largely reactive, workload of the Environmental Protection team will 
continue so far as staff resources allow.  Consideration is currently being 
given to how elements of the service can be digitised in order to streamline 
processes for the benefit of staff and customers alike.

5.4 Lockdown has provided a timely opportunity to progress and test the viability of 
agile/remote working across Regulatory Services, and teams have demonstrated 
that this can be done effectively.  Whilst it is acknowledged that elements of the 
Service are necessarily field-based, or require the physical presence of officers, 
there is real potential, and a desire within the Service, for agile/remote working to 
become part of the ‘new normal’, albeit in a properly managed and structured way.

Page 16



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Coronavirus Act 2020 is the Government’s main legislative change in
response to the pandemic. Most of its provisions came into effect on 25 March 
2020, but detailed further legislation in the form of statutory instruments, and 
government guidance have been issued since that date and continue to be 
published. This is identified at section 2 to this report. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Due to main of the borough’s shops, restaurants and businesses being closed, the 
demand for trade waste collection services have been reduced.  This has led to a 
reduction in income for the trade service in quarter 1.
The effects of the pandemic could result in a number of licenced businesses closing 
and licenced drivers leaving the trade, resulting in a proportionate reduction in 
annual income through licensing fees. 

Risk Assessment It is essential that the Health & Safety measures detailed on this report are 
continued for the foreseeable future to ensure the well-being of the Council’s staff.
Additional burdens on environmental health staff arising from enforcement of 
business closure requirements, etc. will need to be continually reviewed in order to 
ensure they are balanced against statutory remits, and bearing in mind staff levels.
‘Catching up’ on additional work that arises as a result of operational changes could 
have a temporary adverse impact on usual levels of service, which would need to 
be adjusted accordingly, including in terms of managing expectations.
The wellbeing of staff is paramount and has a direct impact on council services. 
Some members of staff may struggle to cope with ongoing change, including when 
re-adapting to a ‘new normal.’ This will need to continue be a primarily 
consideration at all stages. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

 Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 17

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


10

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of Operations Services and Regulatory Services links directly to 
Corporate Objective #1 People, and feeds into/supports Corporate Objective #3 
Progress

Crime and Disorder The work of Operational Services and  Regulatory Services supports a reduction in 
crime and disorder.

Digital and website 
implications

Continued assistance is required from the IT and Digital to support Operational 
Services and Regulatory Services’ ongoing digitation, as well for maintaining its 
existing online offerings.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Licensing regimes are, in part, designed to safeguard children and vulnerable 
adults.  Ensuring that the licensing service is able to undertake its functions 
effectively is therefore crucial to this.

Page 18



C V  29 Total environmental health service requests

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

26 36 48 44 32 34 41 20 42

R E G U L A T O R Y  S E R V I C E S 
O P E R A T I O N A L   S E R V I C E S   C O M M I T T E E 

Mark Lees

O U T T U R N

Page  1  of  3

0

20

40

60

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

P
age 19



C V  32 Total volume of household waste collected (tn)

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

580 603 668 677 755 674 681 682 713

C V  33 % of households who did not receive their scheduled refuse and recycling collection

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Page  2  of  3

W A S T E  &  H O R T I C U L T U R E
O P E R A T I O N A L   S E R V I C E S   C O M M I T T E E 

Stuart Alford

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

500

600

700

800

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

P
age 20



C V  34 Total cemetery bookings

20 Mar

2020

27 Mar

2020

03 Apr

2020

10 Apr

2020

17 Apr

2020

24 Apr

2020

1 May

2020

8 May

2020

15 May

2020

1 0 2 4 3 7 2 0 2

O P E R A T I O N A L   S E R V I C E S   C O M M I T T E E 

O U T T U R N

Page  3  of  3

0

5

10

15

20 Mar
2020

27 Mar
2020

03 Apr
2020

10 Apr
2020

17 Apr
2020

24 Apr
2020

1 May
2020

8 May
2020

15 May
2020

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Monday 8 June 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Proposed Bin Contamination Policy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with a proposed Bin Contamination Policy which details how we plan to 
deal with recycling contamination.

Recommendations:
1. Information only.

1. Summary

1.1 The contamination of recycling bins is an issue that has increased in the last 
couple of years in Gravesham. Contamination is when incorrect materials are 
placed into a bin. This is particularly problematic when non-recyclable materials 
are put in to recycling bins, as it affects the quality of the material collected for 
reprocessing.

1.2 Most forms of contamination are due to resident confusion or error. The proposed 
contamination policy will allow us to educate and work with residents to ensure 
that we collect good quality recyclate.

1.3 The proposed policy is one of a number of planned actions to educate residents 
and to encourage residents to recycle as much as possible by putting the correct 
materials into the correct bins. 

1.3.1 A recycling communications campaign will take place through corporate 
social media channels which has been informed by contamination data 
and recycling collection tonnages on each round. This data will also enable 
for the targeting of conventional communications literature.

1.3.2 All residents moving in to housing developments will be provided with a 
new ‘Recycling & Waste Services’ leaflet, which will also be made 
available to landlords and management agents to issue to their current 
residents. 

Page 23 Agenda Item 6



2

1.3.3 The Street Champions will also be equipped with a version of the leaflet to 
enable them to give appropriate advice about recycling which can be put 
through the door of residents in their area who do not separate their waste 
for recycling correctly, or at all. 

1.4 It is essential that recycling contamination is dealt with as items such as food 
waste, textiles, black sacks and nappies can lead to the whole freighter load of 
recycling being rejected. This has a negative effect on the Council’s recycling 
performance.

1.5 The graph below shows the gradual increase in the rate of prohibitive 
contamination detected in KCC sampling analysis of recycling collected in 
Gravesham:

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Q1
2017-

18

Q2
2017-

18

Q3
2017-

18

Q4
2017-

18

Q1
2018-

19

Q2
2018-

19

Q3
2018-

19

Q4
2018-

19

Q1
2019-

20

Q2
2019-

20

Q3
2019-

20

Total
Contamination
(%)

1.6 Although this is a nationwide issue, the Waste Management Team has produced 
a policy which will define clearly what contamination is and details how we will 
deal with contaminated bins locally.

1.7 The policy will encourage residents to recycle materials correctly, maximise the 
collection of recyclable materials, define contamination and explain how 
contaminated bins will be dealt with by the Council.

1.8 The policy will define contamination in relation to general waste, dry recycling, 
food waste and garden waste bins, and will apply to properties that have sack, 
wheeled bin or communal bin collections.

1.9 Collection crews check bins as they are emptying them for evidence of 
contaminants. This is a visual inspection when they open the lid of the bin. Crews 
are not expected to go through the waste in the bin.

1.10 If any recycling bin or sack has been presented for collection containing 
noticeable amounts of unacceptable items and materials, it will not be emptied. 
This is to prevent the contamination of recycling or other waste streams which 
may result in additional disposal costs for the Council. Contamination could spoil 
the recyclable materials in the load resulting in either the transfer station or the 
recycling reprocessor rejecting the whole load as a result. The load is then sent 

Page 24



3

for incineration which is more costly than the sorting and reprocessing of 
recyclable materials. 

2. Procedure

2.1 The proposal is to introduce a “four strikes” procedure whereby recycling bins will 
ultimately be removed from households that contaminate the respective bins on 
four occasions within a rolling six month period having failed to respond to advice, 
information and support from Officers in the Waste Management Team.

2.2 It is important to note that in the current quarter, had the proposed policy been in 
place, only two properties out of the whole borough would have reached the fourth 
stage of the proposed procedure which would then trigger the removal of their 
recycling bin. It is anticipated that by utilising the contamination data already 
collected to target communications and engagement at these properties, the 
fourth stage would very rarely be reached.

2.3 Information about properties which present contaminated recycling bins is already 
collected by crews and is reported via an in-cab system. This information has 
helped us to understand the problem and to formulate the proposed policy.

2.4 In all instances, the crew will not empty the contaminated bin and will log a 
contamination report on the in-cab system which is managed in the Waste 
Management office on Collective.

2.5 Crews will not return to empty any bin that has been left unemptied due to 
contamination until the next scheduled recycling collection. Providing that the 
contaminants have been removed by the resident the crews will then empty the 
bin and remove the contamination sticker. 

2.6 An automated procedure using our Collective Insights database and Firmstep will 
automatically generate a weekly report for stages 2 to 4 of the procedure which 
will be emailed to the responsible Officer in the Waste Management Team. 

2.7 The automated procedure will manage the tasks set out below, including 
preparing the letters to be uploaded to Notify by the Officer (after the second 
instance), providing a list of properties for the Officer to visit (after the third 
instance) and generating service requests automatically in Bartec to have the bin 
emptied and removed (after the fourth instance).

2.8 The “four strikes” procedure will operate as follows:

2.8.1 After the first instance of a contaminated bin in a rolling six month period, 
an informative warning sticker will be left on the bin advising of the 
contamination that has taken place.

2.8.2 After the second instance of a contaminated bin in a rolling six month 
period, a letter will also be sent to the resident explaining why the bin was 
left unemptied, specifying the items of contamination recorded via the in-
cab system. The letter will ask the resident to take out the incorrect item(s) 
from the bin and explain how to dispose of the item(s) correctly. Additional 
recycling advice will be provided in the letter for future reference.

Page 25



4

2.8.3 After the third instance of a contaminated bin in a rolling six month 
period, the relevant Officer from the Waste Management Team will visit the 
resident’s property to check the contents of the bin. We will speak to the 
resident if they are present and provide advice and guidance. A final 
warning letter will also be delivered to the property at the same time as the 
visit. Within the letter the resident will be notified that if the bin is 
contaminated on a further occasion it will be removed. 

2.8.4 After the fourth instance of a contaminated bin in a rolling six month 
period, a report will populate automatically to create a service request for 
the Operatives to empty the recycling bin as refuse and to remove the 
recycling bin from the property within 48 hours to prevent further 
contamination of waste streams. This is a last resort and would only 
happen after all reasonable steps have been taken to provide advice and 
assistance.

3. Procedure for Communal Bins

3.1 The policy will apply to both properties with kerbside collections and properties 
with communal bins.

3.2 The procedure for contaminated communal bins will operate as follows:

3.2.1 Where a communal bin has been identified as having moderate 
contamination by the collection crew, the crew will log this using their in-
cab system.

3.2.2 A sticker will be added to the bin explaining why it has not been collected 
and a letter or email will be sent to the managing agent, housing 
association or freehold owner responsible for the property to advise them 
that we were unable to empty the bin due to contamination.

3.2.3 On receipt of the letter, the managing agent, housing association or 
freehold owner must remove the contaminants and once they have 
confirmed this has happened the bin will be emptied on the next scheduled 
collection.

3.2.4 On the second occasion of contamination within a rolling six month period, 
a standard letter will be sent to each property that the communal bin 
services. The letter will advise the residents about the correct items for 
disposal in each type of communal bin.

3.2.5 If the same dry mixed recycling communal bin has repeated severe 
contamination (that is to say filled with black bags, nappies, food waste 
and has more non-recyclable than recyclable materials in it) within it on 
more than three occasions within a rolling six month period, the Council 
may remove the recycling bin and provide additional capacity for 
communal refuse disposal to minimise contamination where it is 
demonstrated that the residents persistently misuse or contaminate the 
container. This is a last resort and would only happen after all reasonable 
steps have been taken to provide advice and assistance.

Page 26



5

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 A supporting draft Contaminated Bin Policy document has been attached to this 
report.

Page 27



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the council has a duty to collect 
household waste.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial risks

Risk Assessment N/A

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 - People: 'A commitment to improve the local environment by 'deliver(ing) 
projects and initiatives to further increase levels of household recycling.' 

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no Digital and website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 28

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Page 1 of 5

Bin Contamination Policy 

1 - Purpose of Policy

1.1 The contamination of recycling bins is an issue that has increased in the last couple of 
years in Gravesham. Contamination is when incorrect materials are placed into a bin. 
This is particularly problematic when non-recyclable materials are put in to recycling 
bins, as it affects the quality of the material collected for reprocessing.

1.2 Most forms of contamination are due to resident confusion or error. The proposed 
contamination policy will allow us to educate and work with residents to ensure that we 
collect good quality recyclate.

1.3 It is essential that recycling contamination is dealt with as items such as food waste, 
textiles, black sacks and nappies can lead to the whole freighter load of recycling being 
rejected. This has a negative effect on the Council’s recycling performance.

1.4 The policy will encourage residents to recycle materials correctly, maximise the 
collection of recyclable materials, define contamination and explain how contaminated 
bins will be dealt with by the Council.

2 - Acceptable Materials

2.1 The 180 litre refuse bin is for general waste only as set out, but not limited to, the 
below: 

 Pet waste.
 Nappies.
 Plastic bags.
 Wrapping (such as cling film and bread bags).
 Crisp packets.
 Used tissues and cotton wool.
 Sanitary products.

2.2 The 240 litre dry mixed recycling bin and clear recycling sacks (henceforth used 
synonymously) are only for items that can be recycled as listed below: 

 Steel and aluminium aerosols, cans, tins and foil.
 Paper and cardboard.
 Plastic bottles, trays, tubs and yoghurt pots (except black plastics).
 Food and drink cartons (e.g. Tetrapak).

Items should be predominantly clean and free of food waste and plastic bags / film in 
particular. 

Policy Name: Bin Contamination Policy
Committee Name / Date: Operational Services Committee / 
Review Frequency: 2 years
Implementation Date: X 2020
Review Date: X 2022

Page 29



Page 2 of 5

2.3 The 23 litre food waste bin is for the following materials only:
 All uneaten food and plate scrapings.
 Baked goods (e.g. bread, cakes and pastries).
 Dairy products (e.g. cheese).
 Egg shells.
 Fruit and vegetables (including peelings).
 Out of date foods.
 Raw and cooked fish (including bones).
 Raw and cooked meat (including bones).
 Tea bags and coffee grounds.

2.4 The 140 litre / 240 litre garden waste bin (a paid service only) is for the following 
materials only: 

 Grass cuttings.
 Hedge cuttings.
 Cut flowers.
 Plants.
 Prunings (any branch / twig up to 8cm diameter).
 Leaves.
 Weeds.
 Dead plants.
 Bark and wood waste from a tree.

3 - Defining Contamination

 3.1 Collection crews will check bins as they are emptying them for evidence of 
contaminants. This will be a visual inspection when they open the lid of the bin. Crews are 
not expected to go through the waste in the bin. 

3.2 Items that cannot be put in the refuse bin include: 
 Recyclable items and materials, set out in paragraphs 2.2 to 2.3.
 Electrical items.
 Paint.
 Building waste (such as hardcore and rubble).
 Soil.
 Car parts.
 Clinical waste.
 Hazardous waste (such as asbestos, chemicals and batteries).

3.3 Items that cannot be put in the dry mixed recycling bin include:
 Food waste.
 Plastic bags or film. 
 Garden waste.
 Nappies.
 Clothing / textiles / shoes.
 Other general waste materials that cannot be recycled, such as those listed in 

2.1. 

3.4 Severely contaminated mixed recycling bins will not be emptied and it is the 
responsibility of the householder to remove any contamination from the recycling bin 
before it will be emptied on the next scheduled collection day.

3.5 Items that cannot be put in the food bin include:

Page 30



Page 3 of 5

 Household waste or mixed recyclables.
 Nappies.
 Dog waste, cat litter or other animal waste.
 Plastic bags.

3.6 Food waste bins containing any of the items listed in paragraph 3.5 may not be 
emptied. It is the householder’s responsibility to remove any contamination from the 
food waste bin before it will be emptied on the next scheduled collection day.

3.7 Items that cannot be put in the garden waste bin (a paid service only) include:
 Household waste or mixed recyclables.
 Nappies.
 Dog waste, cat litter or other animal waste.
 Building materials such as stones, slabs, rubble or rubber.
 Plastic bags.
 Plastic flower pots, seed trays or plant labels.
 Soil or turf.

3.8 Garden waste bins containing any of the items listed in paragraph 3.7 may not be 
emptied. It is the householder’s responsibility to remove any contamination from the 
garden waste bin before it will be emptied on the next scheduled collection day.

4 - Contaminated Bin Procedure

4.1 If any GBC bin is presented for collection containing noticeable amounts of 
unacceptable items and materials, it will not be emptied. This is to prevent the 
contamination of recycling or other waste streams which may result in additional 
disposal costs for the Council.

4.2  A “four strikes” policy will be implemented whereby recycling bins are removed from 
households that contaminate bins on four occasions within a rolling six month period 
having failed to respond to advice.

4.2.1 First instance of a contaminated bin in a rolling six month period:

4.2.1.1 The bin is identified as contaminated by the crew and a sticker is left 
on the bin.

4.2.1.2 The crew leave the contaminated bin and will log a contamination 
report on the in-cab system which is managed in the Waste 
Management office on Collective.

4.2.1.3 We will not return to empty any bin that has been left unemptied due 
to contamination until the next scheduled recycling collection. We will 
then empty the bin providing the contaminants have been removed 
by the resident. Crews will then remove the contamination sticker. 

4.2.2 Second instance of a contaminated bin in a rolling six month period:

4.2.2.1 The bin is identified as contaminated by the crew and a sticker is left 
on the bin.

4.2.2.2 The crew leave the contaminated bin and will log a contamination 
report on the in-cab system which is managed in the Waste 
Management office on Collective.

4.2.2.3 We will not return to empty any bin that has been left unemptied due 
to contamination. 

Page 31



Page 4 of 5

4.2.2.4 An automatic weekly report will run and a letter will be sent through 
Notify to the resident explaining why the bin was left unemptied, 
specifying the items recorded via the in-cab system. The letter will 
ask the resident to take out the incorrect item(s) from the bin and 
explain how to dispose of the item(s) correctly. Additional recycling 
advice will be provided in the letter for future reference.

4.2.2.5 We will then empty the bin providing the contaminants have been 
removed by the resident by the next scheduled collection. Crews will 
then remove the contamination sticker. 

4.2.3 Third instance of a contaminated bin in a rolling six month period:

4.2.3.1 The bin is identified as contaminated by the crew and a sticker is 
left on the bin.

4.2.3.2 The crew leave the contaminated bin and will log a contamination 
report on the in-cab system which is managed in the Waste 
Management office on Collective.

4.2.3.3 We will not return to empty any bin that has been left unemptied 
due to contamination. 

4.2.3.4 An automatic weekly report will run and an email will be sent to the 
relevant Officer from the Waste Management Team who will visit 
the resident’s property to check the contents of the bin. We will 
speak to the resident if they are present and provide advice and 
guidance. A final warning letter will also be delivered to the property 
at the same time as the visit. The resident will be notified that if the 
bin is contaminated on a further occasion, it will be removed. 

4.2.3.5 We will then empty the bin providing the contaminants have been 
removed by the resident by the next scheduled collection. Crews 
will then remove the contamination sticker. 

4.2.4 Fourth instance of a contaminated bin in a six month rolling period:

4.2.4.1 The bin is identified as contaminated by the crew and a sticker is left 
on the bin.

4.2.4.2 The crew leave the contaminated bin and will log a contamination 
report on the in-cab system which is managed in the Waste 
Management office on collective.

4.2.4.3 If the bin that is contaminated is a dry mixed recycling bin, the 
contents in the Firmstep report will populate automatically in 
Collective to register a service request to go on to a work pack for 
the Council to empty the recycling bin as refuse and to remove the 
recycling bin from the property within 48 hours. This is a last resort 
and would only happen after all reasonable steps have been taken 
to provide advice and assistance.

4.2.4.4 Residents will be notified in writing and in these circumstances no 
additional general waste provision will be provided to the household.

5 - Contaminated Communal Bins Procedure

4.1 Where a communal bin has been identified as having moderate contamination 
(as per paragraphs 3.2 to 3.6) by the collection crew, the crew will log this 

Page 32



Page 5 of 5

information using their in-cab system. 

4.2 A sticker will be added to the bin explaining why it has not been collected.

4.3 A letter or email will be sent to the managing agent, housing association or 
freehold owner responsible for the property to advise them that we were unable to 
empty the bin due to contamination.

4.4 On receipt of the letter, the managing agent, housing association or freehold 
owner must remove the contaminants and once they have confirmed this has 
happened we will empty the bin at the next scheduled collection.

4.5 On the second occasion of contamination within a rolling six month period, a 
standard letter will be sent to each property that the communal bin services. The 
letter will advise the residents about the correct items for disposal in each type of 
communal bin.

4.6 If the same dry mixed recycling communal bin has repeated severe 
contamination (that is to say filled with black bags, nappies, food waste and has 
more non-recyclable than recyclable materials in it) within on it on more than three 
occasions within a rolling six month period, the Council may remove the recycling 
bin and provide additional capacity for communal refuse disposal to minimise 
contamination where it is demonstrated that the residents persistently misuse or 
contaminate the container. This is a last resort and would only happen after all 
reasonable steps have been taken to provide advice and assistance.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 8 June 2020

Reporting officer: Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager

Subject: Annual Review of the Licensing Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee with a copy of the 
annual review that has been conducted in respect of the Licensing Shared Service with 
Medway Council.

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since 1 January 2019, the council has had in place a shared service with Medway 
Council for the delivery of the Licensing Services function.  This involved the 
transfer of all Medway Council staff who were employed within the Licensing 
Service at Medway to Gravesham Borough Council.

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2019), a formal review of the shared service is to be 
undertaken on an annual basis.

2. Annual Review

2.1 The annual review of the Licensing Shared Service arrangement was undertaken 
in January/February 2020 and reported to the Gravesham Borough Council 
Management Team accordingly.

2.2 A copy of the final review document is attached at Appendix 2 for Member 
perusal.

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 “Development of a shared service for the delivery of Licensing Services” – 
report to Cabinet – 25 June 2018

Page 35 Agenda Item 7



2

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 36



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard to the following 
legislation:
1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 

place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of 
another local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties, 
and

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authority 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which enables a local authority to delegate certain functions to another local 
authority.  

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The initial GBC saving recognised when the shared service was established was 
£8,580 which was reflected from the 2019/20 budget onwards. The subsequent 
restructure that was applicable to 2020/21 budgets onwards resulted in a saving of 
£12,540 for GBC.
The initial impact in the Medway 2019/20 budget was additional expenditure of 
£25,000, however, a saving of £23,220 relating to the Licensing/Land Charges 
Manager post had already been accounted for elsewhere meaning, effectively, the 
net effect was a cost of £1,780. The subsequent restructure is applicable to 
2020/21 budgets onwards, and has resulted in a saving of £700.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and the annual performance reports has identified some areas 
where further work is required to ensure the shared service can operate in the most 
effective way.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 37

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to the both the council’s first and third 
ambition:
#1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home 

#3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment.

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 38



                          

APPENDIX 2

Review of the Licensing
Shared Service

(Shared Service Commenced: 01 January 2019)

Author(s): Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager

Date: 20 February 2020

Page 39



Review of the Licensing Shared Service

February 2020

Page 2

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement.

The objectives identified for the Licensing Shared Service are as follows:

 Efficiency savings. Realising actual financial savings across the two sites but maintaining delivery 
of the service. 

 Added resilience across the two authorities. There will be a larger pool of officers covering both 
authorities providing additional resilience to cover sickness absence/vacancies or increased 
workload should this be required 

 Availability of specialist skills across both authorities leading to increased efficiency; potential for 
a reduced requirement for external support from contractors etc. 

 Sharing of best practice in the delivery of the Licensing Service

 Expansion of knowledge base of individual officers 

Page 40



Review of the Licensing Shared Service

February 2020

Page 3

Review Findings
How is the shared service operating?
1. Has the shared service delivered on the objectives that are set out on page two of the review 

document?

Yes  No In part

Please provide details of how the objectives have been met.  If they haven’t been met or have 
been met in part, please provide the reasons for this and any action identified to rectify this.

1. Efficiency savings. Realising actual financial savings across the two sites but maintaining 
delivery of the service. 

The Service has already made notable progress in developing/implementing more 
efficient processes for the mutual benefit of service users and officers such as the 
provision of online applications and payments, coupled with automated post-application 
processes and population of data into the back-office system, for Temporary Event 
Notices as well as Personal Licence, Taxi/Private Hire Driver Knowledge Test, and 
Taxi/Private Hire Vehicle Licence applications.  

The Team will soon be further expanding Gravesham’s suite of online taxi and private hire 
application forms to Medway applicants, following the completion of the data migration 
project in mid-January, which will transform the service provision.

Following the TUPE transfer of all ex-Medway employees of the licensing team in January, 
the shared service underwent a comprehensive restructure which took effect from April 
and which achieved shared savings in the region of £50,000 which were split in 
accordance with the legal agreement.

Further information relating to actual financial savings realised is given in Question 4 of 
this review.

2. Added resilience across the two authorities. There will be a larger pool of officers covering 
both authorities providing additional resilience to cover sickness absence/vacancies or 
increased workload should this be required 

The aforementioned restructure retained the same number of posts as previously existed 
across the two separate teams, resulting in a larger, single pool of officers to provide 
added resilience to cover the work of both Licensing Authorities, whilst also creating a 
clear structure to provide career progression/development opportunities for all staff.

3. Availability of specialist skills across both authorities leading to increased efficiency; 
potential for a reduced requirement for external support from contractors etc. 

Access to a wider pool of specialists across both council’s, e.g. Public Health, IT, Digital, 
Environmental Health, Legal and Finance, has diversified the advice and guidance 
available to the Shared Licensing Service to inform decisions, facilitate change, and 
expand knowledge.

4. Sharing of best practice in the delivery of the Licensing Service, &

5. Expansion of knowledge base of individual officers

All five front-line members of the team, i.e. the two Licensing Officers, two Senior 
Licensing Officers and the Licensing Manager have now completed and passed the 

Page 41



Review of the Licensing Shared Service

February 2020

Page 4

Institute of Licensing accredited Professional Licensing Practitioner Qualification (PLPQ), 
making them a formidable team of licensing practitioners.  

Staff frequently liaise with one another in the office and at weekly team meetings to 
share information, collectively ascertain how to deal with particular matters, or share 
ideas for service improvements, for example. 

Their knowledge and approach towards embracing change rather than relying on a ‘we’ve 
always done it this way’ mind-set, coupled with a high level of managerial, administrative 
and technical support has been invaluable in progressing the shared service to date. 

Regular attendance at the Kent and Medway Regulatory Licensing Steering Group and IOL 
Regional Training Events, etc. also supports these objectives.

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service? 

Yes No 

Please provide details of any other benefits, which were not anticipated at the start, which 
have come about as a result of the shared service.

N/A – all expected benefits have been/are being realised.

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared service?

Yes  No

Please provide details of any other issues of problems that have arisen which were not 
previously identified and how these have been managed/rectified.

1. The migration of data from Medway’s case management system (IDOX Acolaid) to 
Gravesham’s (IDOX Uniform) was initially scheduled to complete in July 2019.  Due to 
recurrent issues with the accuracy and quality of the data, coupled with limited 
consultancy (IDOX) availability and associated communication issues, this work did not 
conclude until mid-January 2020.  Thanks to the continued drive and determination of 
officers, the team are however now able to start delivering tangible service 
improvements.

2. It was expected and initially advised that licensing emails sent to Medway could be easily 
redirected to Gravesham, as has been done the opposite way around for our other shared 
services.  After approx. a year of officers trying to progress this, in January 2020 Medway’s 
IT Services advised it was not technically possible.  The decision was therefore made to 
set up automatic replies only with immediate effect, advising customers of the need to 
redirect their emails and all future emails accordingly.  So far, no issues have arisen as a 
result of this solution.

3. Time taken to set up computers and printers, etc. on the Gravesham network at Gun 
Wharf for shared service staff to use when working out the Medway offices.  This is still 
yet to happen despite the Licensing Team’s best efforts in trying to progress this, and is 
urgently required to reduce the strain of staff and allow service improvements to be 
made.

Page 42



Review of the Licensing Shared Service

February 2020

Page 5

4. Disparities between internal procedures, processes, permissions and systems at 
Gravesham and Medway and a lack of communication; especially in relation to I.T. as 
eluded to above.  It was expected that all relevant departments at both council’s would 
be aware of the shared service and be in a position/be required to assist in facilitating it 
as necessary, but the Licensing Team have found it to be an ongoing struggle in some 
respects. 

5. Morale and stress levels have, understandably, been challenged.  This was not an 
unexpected issue, but was certainly exacerbated by the above factors which were not 
envisaged.   

A lesson learnt is to ensure that the key officers continue to attend a working group until all 
requirements are complete as it has been challenging to drive unmet requirements forward in 
the absence of this forum.

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities? 

Please provide details of the financial impact of the shared service i.e. confirmation of any 
savings achieved, if these are above/below anticipated levels, any costs that were not 
previously considered or have arisen etc.

The initial GBC saving recognised when the shared service was established was £8,580 which 
was reflected from the 2019/20 budget onwards. The subsequent restructure that was 
applicable to 2020/21 budgets onwards resulted in a saving of £12,540 for GBC.

The initial impact in the Medway 2019/20 budget was additional expenditure of £25,000, 
however, a saving of £23,220 relating to the Licensing/Land Charges Manager post had 
already been accounted for elsewhere meaning, effectively, the net effect was a cost of 
£1,780. The subsequent restructure is applicable to 2020/21 budgets onwards, and has 
resulted in a saving of £700.

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service:

Please provide details of feedback that you have received from officers involved in the shared 
service.  This section could be completed via a short team meeting for example, whereby 
officers’ views are sought.

Officers were asked for their feedback at the end of January 2020.  Their comments are given 
below:

“Whilst we have been faced with difficulties in relation to data migration and email redirects, 
which have now been resolved, there has been no negative impact on our service provision 
which is supported by no complaints being received from our customers.  We have received 
very positive comments from the taxi trade in relation to looking forward to submitting their 
applications online, which is imminent (if not already in place).   Headway has been made in 
preparation of the debtor migration which it is anticipated will be completed by the new 
financial year.”

Page 43



Review of the Licensing Shared Service

February 2020

Page 6

“I don’t think I was really aware of how much work this would really take and how long it 
would take to do it.  There are so many people involved in getting this done and therefore the 
conclusion is determined by everyone getting their bit done.

We have experienced problems with IT situations, Medway access, emails, IDOX etc.  
However I think as a whole the team have managed to work through and beyond these issues.

We have managed so much already with the IDOX data transfer, working on finance transfer, 
using of the online digital forms, folder migration.

There is so much more to come and I think if we work together we will get it all done.”

“Despite external delays affecting our project plan, we’ve been able to launch a range of 
online services for Medway residents. It’s great to see Medway customers engaging with and 
enjoying the digital process. Work has begun on bringing Medway taxi drivers online, and we 
will see some of our biggest gains here.”

“The last year has been very frustrating and there has been an extremely steep learning curve 
for all the team.  Managing databases and spreadsheets, unlearning old practices and learning 
new ones, and not to mention customers assuming that we only deal with Medway, has been 
testing.  It seemed at one point that procedures were changing on a daily basis: tricky if you 
took a few days annual leave!  So many times I have wanted to bang my head against the 
nearest wall, but…

This is now mostly all behind us. As we move forward I am truly excited to see that the service 
will be brought forward to the 21st century by going fully digital in all its aspects (in time of 
course). This will allow me to dust down my enforcement hat and put it to good use as before.

I would like to thank Vickii and Emily in particular for their patience in answering all questions 
thrown at them without a hint of frustration and would like to apologise for upsetting the 
pleasant, calm and peaceful balance that must have existed before the Medway Mob 
arrived!!”

“It’s a shame our software provider didn’t deliver the data migration on time and put us 
behind 6 months, but that has not been allowed to stand in the way of progress.

Medway are now using Uniform with all the Acolaid data now imported and being used. New 
code lists have been built to incorporate Medway, and bespoke reporting has been built 
around both areas’ requirements. Most notable is the Defra air quality automation.

We have made huge strides forward in terms of our digital offerings for Gravesham and 
Medway. 

Gravesham now has over 75% of its licensing offerings online and Medway now has an 
established TENS, personal licence and knowledge test online offerings and is only days away 
from going live with online Vehicle Licensing, with Driver and Operator to follow shortly.

I can see how the delays in the delivery of the data migration must have been really 
frustrating, but I hope our new colleagues are now starting to see the benefits of Digitisation 
and automation and the efficiencies it will bring going forward.

There is so much more to come and I think if we work together we will get it all done.”

Page 44



Review of the Licensing Shared Service

February 2020

Page 7

“I think one of the big improvements will be when everything taxi related is on line.  

Medway changing to Gravesham’s online knowledge test application has made this 
administration process streamlined.   The computerised test once a month and marking is also 
a vast improvement.   The time for test results has been cut dramatically.”

“Setting up the shared service has been nothing short of a gargantuan task.  The officers on 
the ground who have driven it forward, whilst continuing to cover their day to day work, 
should be applauded and recognised for their exceptionally hard-work, patience and 
commitment.  Despite the challenges faced, work is well underway to deliver an exemplary, 
modern and efficient licensing service, as has already been recognised by a number of 
council’s across the country who have reached out to us after hearing about our innovative 
approach and achievements.”

“Exciting times, looking forward to going digital so we can streamline our processes and offer 
an even more efficient service to the public. The move to Gravesham Borough Council has 
been a positive move.”

Moving forward with the shared service
6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared service continue to operate?

Yes  No

If ‘No’ please provide details of why it is felt that the shared service should not continue and 
any exit plans that have been discussed/agreed.

If the answer is ‘Yes’ but there are changes that need to be made to ensure the shared service 
is effective, please provide details of the changes that are required and how they will be 
addressed.

 The IT equipment that needs to be set up at Gun Wharf on the Gravesham network is 
needed urgently.  This needs to be driven forwards as a priority by the two IT Services, 
with Licensing kept fully up to speed to ensure their needs are met.

 Key services at Medway, such as IT, need to be made more accessible to, and 
supportive for, shared service staff who are Gravesham employees - existing internal 
procedures and policies do not appear to take account of this (due to them no longer 
using a Medway domain email, not being listed as a Medway employee, or not having 
associated Medway permissions, for example) which has at times made it incredibly 
challenging and time consuming to implement, what should have been, simple 
changes or get issues rectified.

7. If the shared service is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of focus for the coming 
year for both authorities?

Page 45



Review of the Licensing Shared Service

February 2020

Page 8

If answered ‘Yes’ to question 5, please provide details of the key aspects of work that 
are going to be undertaken in the year in order to ensure the shared service continues 
and is further strengthened.

 Completing the work required to ‘set-up’ the shared service, with full and 
prioritised support from other services as required.

 Delivering an enhanced digital service, making full use of available technology.

 Ensuring staff are adequately trained and supported.

 Realising procedural efficiencies to enable staff to recommence more field-
based duties.

Summary of recommendations
Please list any recommendations that you feel need to be reviewed by the relevant Directors at both 
authorities.  This may include changes to processes or potential supplement increases (if applicable) 
if it is felt that partnership is working well.

1. Shared Service to continue

2. Outstanding IT requirements need to be completed in full as a priority, in 
conjunction with the Licensing Team.

3. -

Page 46


	Agenda
	2 Minutes from Previous Meeting
	5 Coronavirus - Cabinet Portfolio Impact
	Appendix 2 - COVID-19 Indicators - Operational Services

	6 Bin contamination Policy
	PROPOSED Bin Contamination Policy

	7 Annual Review of the Licensing Shared Service
	Appendix 2 - Shared Licensing Service Annual Review


